FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/19/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
12/19/2019 1:53 PM

No. 78790-0-I

98003-9

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

IN RE THE DEPENDENCY OF Z.J.G. AND M.G., Minors,

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN, YOUTH, AND FAMILIES,

Respondent,

v.

SCOTT JAMES GREER,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Patrick Oishi, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

TARA URS Attorney for Appellant

KING COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC DEFENSE
Director's Office
710 Second Avenue, Suite 200
Seattle, WA 98104
Phone: (206) 477-8789

I. INTRODUCTION

Mr. Greer seeks review of the decision below which upheld the removal of his children, without the protections of ICWA, even though they are Indian Children.¹ The lower court's decision undermines ICWA, a statutory scheme put in place for the purpose of protecting people like Mr. Greer and his children.

Congress enacted ICWA to address policies and practices that resulted in the "wholesale separation of Indian children from their families." H. Rep. 95-1386 (July 24, 1978) at 9. "In particular, Congress recognized that many Indian children were removed from their homes because of poverty, joblessness, substandard housing, and related circumstances." 81 Fed. Reg. 38778, 38790 (June 14, 2016).

In 2016, the BIA recognized the continuing need for ICWA acknowledging that Native American children "are still disproportionately more likely to be removed from their homes and communities than other children." 81 Fed. Reg. 38778, 38779 (June 14, 2016). The BIA also

¹ This petition refers to the federal Indian Child Welfare Act as "ICWA" (25 U.S.C. § 1901 <u>et seq.</u>); the Washington State Indian Child Welfare Act as "WICWA" (RCW 13.38.010 <u>et seq.</u>); the 2016 regulations of the Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA) as "BIA Regulations" or "federal regulations" (25 C.F.R. § 23 <u>et seq.</u>); and the Bureau of Indian Affairs, U.S. Dep't of Interior, Guidelines for Implementing the Indian Child Welfare Act (Dec. 2016) as "BIA Guidelines."

acknowledged that updated regulations were necessary because "some State court interpretations of ICWA have essentially voided Federal protections for groups of Indian children to whom ICWA clearly applies." *Id.*

The lower court's decision in this case presents an issue of significant public interest because it undermines core aspects of this statutory scheme, weakening ICWA's protection of Native American families and undermining Tribal sovereignty.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The petitioner, Scott Greer, is the father of Z.G. and M.G. RP 35. Mr. Greer's children are Indian Children as defined by federal and state Indian Child Welfare laws. They were removed from his care at a shelter care hearing on July 3, 2018, where the court failed to apply ICWA. CP 12.

III. DECISION BELOW

Mr. Greer is seeking review of the Court of Appeals Division I decision of September 3, 2019. Mr. Greer moved to reconsider the appellate decision because, among other things, the decision changed the long-standing meaning of key provisions of ICWA without addressing the impact of those changes on notice to Tribal governments. Reconsideration was denied on November 19, 2019.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does the lower court's decision, which undermines state and federal Indian Child Welfare statutes, create an issue of significant public interest warranting review?
- 2. Did the lower court err in its construction of federal law by narrowly interpreting "reason to know" such that it undermined Tribal sovereignty, raising an issue of significant public interest?
- 3. Is review required because the lower court erred in failing to give effect to the plain language of WICWA, contrary to this Court's decision in *T.A.W.*?
- 4. Will the lower court's decision deprive Tribes of notice of future dependency cases involving their members, raising an issue of significant public interest?
- 5. Is review required to address the inconsistency between the lower court's decision and prior decisions of the Court of Appeals, including *T.L.G.*?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Greer is the father of Z.G. and M.G. RP 35. During a time in June 2018 when his family was struggling with housing and was living in an R.V., his children were placed in protective custody due to concerns of neglect and unsanitary living conditions. RP 15-16.

The state filed a dependency petition requesting out-of-home placement. CP 3. The petition alleged the following regarding the children's Indian status:

Based on the following, the petitioner knows or has reason to know the child is an Indian child as defined in RCW 13.38.040 and 25 U.S.C. § 1903(4), and the Federal and

Washington State Indian Child Welfare Acts do apply to this proceeding:

Mother has Tlingit-Haida heritage and is eligible for membership with Klawock Cooperative Association. She is also identified as having Cherokee heritage on her paternal side. Father states he may have native heritage with Confederate Tribes of the Umatilla in Oregon.

The petitioner has made the following preliminary efforts to provide notice of this proceeding to all tribes to which the petitioner knows or has reason to know the child may be a member or eligible for membership if the biological parent is also a member:

Inquiry to tribes has been initiated. Worker has called Central Council Tlingit Haida regarding this family and petition. Further inquiry and notification to tribes is ongoing.

CP 2.2

At the beginning of the shelter care hearing the trial court did not ask each participant whether they knew or had reason to know if the children were Indian children. RP 4-9.

The state called social worker Richard Summers who testified that he filed the petitions and that the information in the petitions was correct. RP 9-10. During the direct examination of Summers, the state asked whether the children "qualified" under WICWA. RP 11. Summers testified

² The Central Council of Tlingit and Haida Indian Tribes of Alaska (CCTHITA) has 21 communities that are recognized as Community Council Chapters, including Klawock, www.ccthita.org/government/delegates/chapters/index.html (last viewed 12/17/2019) (hereafter Tlingit and Haida Tribe).

he had called the Tlingit and Haida Tribe and "they gave me information that the maternal grandmother is an enrolled member, but the mother is not enrolled, and the children are not enrolled." RP 11. Summers also stated, "To my knowledge, the father is not enrolled in a federally recognized tribe either." RP 11-12.

The children's mother, L.G., testified at the shelter care hearing that she and the children are eligible for membership in the Tlingit and Haida Tribe, but she is not an "enrolled" member of a federally recognized tribe. RP 88, 90. L.G. was never directly asked about her Cherokee heritage. RP 83-91. During his testimony, Mr. Greer confirmed that L.G. has Cherokee heritage and that he has Native American heritage through the Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla in Oregon. RP 66-67. Both parents testified the children are eligible for tribal membership. RP 67, 88.

During closing arguments, both parents asked the court to apply ICWA's heightened standard for removal, which requires proof of imminent physical danger or harm, because there was a reason to know that the children are Indian Children. RP 110, 113. In response, the state argued ICWA did not apply because there was no proof the children in fact met the definition of an Indian Child at that time. RP 117. The trial court ruled ICWA did not apply based on "the testimony in this case and the reasonable cause standard." RP 118.

On July 30, 2018, the dependency court granted the Tlingit and Haida Tribe's motion to intervene and, at subsequent proceedings, the court determined there was a "reason to know" that Z.G. and M.G. were Indian Children and applied ICWA and WICWA. CP 59.

S.G. sought discretionary review, challenging the trial court's failure to comply with ICWA at the shelter care hearing. CP 20-31. After the Commissioner granted review, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's order on September 3, 2019. Mr. Greer moved to reconsider and reconsideration was denied on November 19, 2019.

VI. ARGUMENT

The "reason to know" finding serves a critical gatekeeping function in Indian Child Welfare Act (ICWA) cases. Under ICWA, when a state court finds there is a "reason to know" that a child is or may be an Indian child, it triggers the legal requirement that the petitioning party provide legal notice to the Tribe. 25 U.S.C. § 1912(a); RCW 13.38.070. Without this finding, Tribes are not entitled to formal notice and may never learn about a case involving their members.

In addition, when a state court finds a "reason to know," federal regulations require courts to apply all of ICWA's protections to the case until the relevant Tribe determines whether ICWA applies. 25 C.F.R. § 23.107. "This requirement … ensures that ICWA's requirements are

followed from the early stages of a case and that harmful delays and duplication resulting from the potential late application of ICWA are avoided." BIA Guidelines at 12.

The lower court's decision in this case sharply restricted the definition of a "reason to know," holding that the mother's testimony that both she and her children were eligible for membership in the Tlingit and Haida Tribe was insufficient to establish even a "reason to know" that the children were Indian Children. *Matter of Dependency of Z.J.G.*, 448 P.3d 175, 184 (Wash. Ct. App. 2019). The lower court required proof that the children met the definition of "Indian Child" rather than treating the testimony as a "reason to know" that the children may meet that definition. *Id.* Yet, the children are members of the Tlingit and Haida Tribe, and Indian Children, which was confirmed when the Tribe subsequently intervened.

The lower court erred by creating a rule that denies Indian Children protection under ICWA. This Court should accept review because the lower court has misconstrued federal and state laws in a manner that undermines the integrity of both statutes and Tribal sovereignty.

³ An "Indian child" is child who is "(a) A member of an Indian tribe; or (b) eligible for membership in an Indian tribe and is the biological child of a member of an Indian tribe." RCW 13.38.040.

A. REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED BECAUSE THE LOWER COURT DECISION REQUIRES THAT STATE COURTS "KNOW" A CHILD IS AN INDIAN CHILD WHEN THE STATUTE REQUIRES ONLY A "REASON TO KNOW"

The lower court's decision undermines the foundations of ICWA by empowering state courts, rather than Tribes, to decide Tribal membership. Under the lower court's decision there is not a "reason to know" until proof establishes to the satisfaction of the state court that the child meets the definition of an Indian Child. *Matter of Dependency of Z.J.G.*, 448 P.3d at 184. This reasoning conflates the term "knows" with "reason to know."

It is well-established that state courts cannot make determinations about Tribal membership because, to do so, would impermissibly intrude on tribal sovereignty. 25 C.F.R. § 23.108 ("The State court may not substitute its own determination regarding a child's membership in a Tribe, a child's eligibility for membership in a Tribe, or a parent's membership in a Tribe."). Here, the lower court erred in allowing state courts to usurp this function, allowing the state court to investigate whether children are members of a Tribe rather than relying on legal notice to Tribes.

More importantly, the lower court's interpretation of "reason to know" also prevents Tribes from ever learning of the case because state agencies are only required to send Tribes legal notice of a dependency case when the state court makes a "reason to know" finding. 25 U.S.C. § 1912(a);

RCW 13.38.070. Accordingly, the lower court's decision has put state courts in the position of guessing at tribal membership criteria, rather than sending notice to the Tribe's chosen representative.⁴

Contrary to the holding of the lower court, ICWA and its regulations are written to further Tribal sovereignty by 1) requiring notice to the relevant Tribe even when the court lacks sufficient evidence to determine that the child is an Indian child, and 2) creating a process for determining whether there is a "reason to know" that limits the discretion of state courts.

1. The Lower Court Incorrectly Interpreted Federa Regulations Narrowly, Not "Expansively," as Required.

The lower court was incorrect when it required proof the child was an "Indian Child" prior to finding there was a "reason to know" because under federal regulations information that suggests the child is an Indian Child creates a "reason to know," until the Tribe makes the ultimate determination. In fact, the regulations specifically contemplate that there will be a "reason to know the child is an Indian child," even where "the court *does not have sufficient evidence* to determine that the child is or is

descendants of members).

9

⁴ Membership is a distinct concept from enrollment; state courts lack sufficient information to make those determinations. *See In re Termination of Parental Rights to Arianna R.G.*, 259 Wis.2d 563, 657 N.W.2d 363, 369 (2003) (while many tribes require registration or enrollment as a condition of membership, some automatically include

not an 'Indian child.'" 25 C.F.R. § 23.107(b) (emphasis added). The BIA regulations establish a list of six factors for state courts to apply to determine that there is a "reason to know." 25 C.F.R. § 23.107. For example, there is a "reason to know" when "[a]ny participant in the proceeding...informs the court that it has *discovered information indicating* that the child is an Indian child." 25 C.F.R. § 23.107(c)(2). BIA Guidelines encourage state courts to interpret the factors "expansively." BIA Guidelines at 11.5

Interpreting the regulations "expansively" ensures the correct determination will be made by giving Tribes the opportunity, through legally sufficient notice, to determine their own membership.

2. The Lower Court Decision Articulated a Process for Determining "Reason to Know" That Violated Federal Regulations.

In order to further the broader purpose of protecting Tribal sovereignty, federal regulations lay out a process for determining when there is "reason to know" that limits the discretion of state courts.

According to federal regulation, "at the commencement of the proceeding" state courts "must ask each participant" whether the participant

⁵ Factor number six explicitly allows a "reason to know" finding to be made in a situation in which there is no proof the child is an Indian Child. Under this factor there is "reason to know" when only the parent possesses an identification card indicating membership in an Indian Tribe. 25 C.F.R. § 23.107(6). With that information it is impossible to know whether a child "is" an Indian Child, but there is still sufficient "reason to know."

knows or has reason to know that the child is an Indian child. 25 C.F.R. § 23.107.6 Once *any* participant provides the court information that *indicates* the child is an Indian Child (or satisfies another one of the factors) the inquiry ends. 25 C.F.R. § 23.107. There is no provision that allows a state court to weigh the testimony of one participant over another participant, and no provision that allows the state court to consider competing sources of evidence as to Tribal membership.

In this case, the social worker swore in the dependency petition that there was "reason to know" that the children were Indian Children and then swore again at the shelter care hearing that his petition was correct. (CP 2, RP 11-12). At that point, the inquiry should have ended because continuing to litigate the precise nature of the relationship between the family and the Tribe was mere guesswork that violated the federal regulations. Tribal membership is not for the state court to determine.

Requiring families or the state to provide absolute proof that the child meets the definition of an "Indian Child" at a 72-hour shelter care hearing is unreasonable. These are emergency proceedings, stressful events in which the state is seeking the removal of children. Families themselves

⁶ The trial court did not make the required inquiry at the start of the hearing in this case; the appellate court affirmed the result using the doctrine of "substantial compliance."

11

may not understand the exact relationship between membership, eligibility, and enrollment at their own Tribe, or whether their children meet the criteria for membership.

The regulations allow "any participant" to trigger ICWA's protections, casting a wide net to ensure that Tribes receive notice. In this situation, casting a wide net does not disadvantage anyone. If the child is not an Indian Child, then early legal notice will resolve that question dispositively. In the meantime, ICWA is "designed to keep children, when possible, with their parents, family, or Tribal community—[which] should benefit children regardless of whether it turns out that they are Indian children." 81 Fed. Reg. 38778, 38803 (June 14, 2016).

The lower court erred by endorsing a process that violated federal regulations by expanding state court discretion and limiting Tribal sovereignty. Review should be granted to address this issue of significant public interest.

B. REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED BECAUSE THE DECISION BELOW FAILED TO GIVE EFFECT TO THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF WICWA

The lower court must be reversed because it failed to give effect to the plain language of WICWA, which is even broader and more protective than federal law. The lower court incorrectly "harmonized" WICWA down to the floor set by the federal law, rather than giving effect to the important textual differences between the statutes, as required. *See* 25 U.S.C. § 1921.

There are two areas in which WICWA offers significantly more protection to Native American families than the federal statute, both of which the lower court incorrectly read out of the statute. First, according to WICWA there is "reason to know" where the child "is *or may be*" an Indian child. RCW 13.38.070(1). The addition of the words "may be" makes WICWA broader than the same provision in the federal statute. *Compare* RCW 13.38.070(1) *with* 25 U.S.C. § 1912(a).

Second, unlike the federal statute, WICWA defines Indian Child as a child who is "eligible for membership" regardless of whether a parent is a member. According to WICWA, "written determination by an Indian tribe that a child is a member of or eligible for membership in that tribe...shall be conclusive that the child is an Indian child." RCW 13.38.070(3)(a). Unlike the federal statute, WICWA contains a definition of "member" and "membership." RCW 13.38.040(12) (defining membership as "a determination by an Indian tribe that a person is a member or eligible for membership in that Indian tribe."). WICWA amends the definition of "Indian Child" by clarifying the meaning of the word "member."

These differences between the state and federal statutes inform the outcome of this case since they expand the application of both "reason to

know" and the definition of "Indian Child." WICWA makes plain that there is "reason to know" even without evidence that the child *is* an Indian child – all that is required is that the child "*may be*." Significantly, the parents in this case testified that the children were eligible for membership and therefore satisfied WICWA's definition of Indian Child, which does not require that a parent also be member.

The lower court's reading of WICWA, overlooked these textual differences and is contrary to this Court's decision in *Matter of Adoption of T.A.W.*, which held that ICWA and WICWA "should be read as coextensive *barring specific differences in their statutory language.*" 186 Wn.2d 828, 844, 383 P.3d 492, 498-99 (2016). Because there are specific differences in the statutory language, the choice of the state legislature to provide additional protections must be given effect. *Spokane Cty. v. Dep't of Fish & Wildlife*, 192 Wn.2d 453, 458, 430 P.3d 655, 658 (2018) ("Statutes must be interpreted and construed so that all the language used is given effect, with no portion rendered meaningless or superfluous.").

The same result is required by ICWA itself. ICWA specifically directs courts to apply state law when it is more protective of the parents' rights. 25 U.S.C. § 1921; *see also United States v. Errol D., Jr.*, 292 F.3d 1159, 1163-64 (9th Cir. 2002) (recognizing the unique trust relationship

between the United States and Indian tribes requires that ambiguous provisions be "construed liberally in favor of the Indians.").

Giving full effect to the words "may be" is also consistent with WICWA's purpose: to "prevent out of home placement of Indian Children...." RCW 13.38.030. Applying WICWA at an emergency proceeding when a child "may be" an Indian Child, protects Tribal members in the period before the Tribe has had an opportunity to intervene. The heightened standard for removal in an ICWA case, requiring a showing of "imminent physical damage or harm," is of little use after the emergency hearing. *See* 25 U.S.C. § 1922; RCW 13.38.140.

The Court should accept review to correct the lower court's interpretation of WICWA, which is contrary to a prior decision of this court, *T.A.W.*, which mandates that textual differences between the state and federal statutes be given meaning.

C. REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED BECAUSE THE DECISION WILL PREVENT TRIBES FROM RECEIVING LEGAL NOTICE OF DEPENDENCY CASES INVOLVING THEIR MEMBERS, RENDERING ICWA "MEANINGLESS"

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