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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 

A. The Issues Presented Are Moot 

Instead of presenting a claim of substantial public interest, the father 

presents moot issues. Shortly after the initial shelter care hearing, Tlingit 

and Haida Tribes of Alaska intervened. CP 19. The father's dependency and 

dispositional order satisfies all of the ICWA and WICWA requirements for 

out of home placement for a dispositional order, including the requirement 

for formal legal notice under RCW 13.38.070 and 25 U.S.C. § 1912(a). 

Appendix A to Respondent's Supplemental Brief (filed on March 29, 2019) 

at 2-3. The father's agreed dependency order contains a finding stating that 

the "facts establish by clear and convincing evidence, including the 

testimony of a qualified expert witness that continued custody of the child 
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by the [parents] is likely to result in serious emotional or physical damage 

to the child." Id. at 2. The agreed order also has a finding stating the 

Department "made active efforts" by working with the parents to engage 

.them in remedial services designed to prevent the breakup of the Indian 

family and that those efforts were unsuccessful. Id. All required WICW A 

and ICW A protections have been applied, and there is no effective remedy 

to provide in this case. This case presents moot issues, and review is not 

warranted. 

B. The Requirement for Review Under RAP 13.4(b)(1) Has Not 
Been Satisfied Because the Opinion Below Does Not Conflict 
with This Court's Decision in T.A. W. 

Under RAP 13.4(b)(l), the consideration governing acceptance of 

review in this Court is whether the decision of the lower court is in conflict 

with a decision of the Washington State Supreme Court. Without 

specifically referencing RAP 13.4(b)(l), the father claims the opinion 

below conflicts with the ruling of this Court in Matter of TA. W, 186 Wn.2d 

828, 383 P.3d 492 (2016). Petition at 14-15. This claim fails to support the 

request for review because the opinion below is consistent with TA. W The 

opinion relies upon TA. W for the proposition that "WICWA's express 

intent was to clarify rather than expand ICWA." ZJG. 448 P.3d at 183 n. 

63. The reliance of the Court of Appeals on TA. W is appropriate, because 

this Court explained in TA. W that WICW A was enacted with the intention 
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of "clarifying existing laws and codifying existing policies and practices ... " 

TA. W, 186 Wn.2d at 843. The Legislature's "desire to import much of the 

language of ICW A into WICW A, and WICW A's aim of clarifying existing 

law" leads to the conclusion that "the acts should be read as coextensive 

barring specific differences in their statutory language." TA. W at 844. 

The opinion below is also consistent with TA. W because TA. W 

noted that "WICWA's definition of 'Indian child' is nearly identical to 

ICWA's definition." TA. W., 186 Wn.2d at 845, citing RCW 13.38.040(7). 

RCW 13.38.040(7) defines an "Indian child" as 

an unmarried and emancipated Indian person who is under 
eighteen years of age and is either: (a) A member of an 
Indian tribe; or (b) eligible for membership in an Indian tribe 
and is the biological child of a member of an Indian tribe. 

Federal law does not further define the term, "member." 25 U.S.C. § 1903. 

WICW A does not contain a "reason to know" definition in its definition 

section at RCW 13.38.040, so there is no specific difference inlanguage to 

support anything but a coextensive "reason to know" determination under 

WICWA and ICWA's definition of an Indian child. The claim that the 

opinion below somehow conflicts with TA. W is without merit. 

C. Review is Not Warranted Under RAP 13.4(b)(2) Because the 
Court of Appeals Properly Distinguished Its Own Earlier 
Ruling in T.L. G. 

Under RAP 13.4(b)(2), the consideration governing acceptance of 
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review is whether the decision of the lower court is in conflict with a 

decision of the Court of Appeals. Without specifically referencing 

RAP 13 .4(b )(2), the father claims the ruling below conflicts with In re 

Dependency ofTL.G., 126 Wn. App. 181, 108 P.3d 156 (2005). Petition at 

18. The father's argument fails because he misinterprets the Court of 

Appeals' treatment of TL. G. 

Under state and federal law, if the court has reason to know a child 

is an Indian child, then legal notice to the child's Indian tribe is required. 25 

U.S.C. § 1912(a); 25 C.F.R. § 23.111; RCW 13.38.070(1). In addition, 

under WICW A, when a claim of Indian American ancestry is made, the 

Department makes a "good faith effort to determine whether the child is an 

Indian child." RCW 13.38.050. 

The formal legal notice procedure (required by RCW 13.38.070(1) 

and 25 U.S.C. § 1912(a)) and good faith preliminary efforts process 

(required by RCW 13.38.050) are two complementary processes, and, when 

combined, result in earlier and more robust identification oflndian children. 

Nothing in the opinion below suggests the preliminary inquiry process is 

being used as a "substitute" for the need for formal legal notice, as claimed. 

See Petition at 16-17. The father attempts to misread the opinion's treatment 

of TL. G, in an effort to provide a false choice between formal legal notice 

and the preliminary inquiry process required under WICW A. This choice 
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need not be made at all, and the Court of Appeals here clearly required 

formal notice when there is reason to know a child is an Indian child. 

Moreover, neither WICWA's notice provision at 

RCW 13.38.070(1) nor ICWA's notice provision at 25 U.S.C. § 1912(a) 

bears on any issue presented during an emergency placement hearing where 

formal legal notice is not required. Under the ICW A, there are two types of 

out-of-home placements: "emergency placements" and "foster care 

placements." An "emergency placement" of an Indian child requires a 

finding that the placement is necessary to "prevent imminent physical 

damage or harm to the child." 25 C.F.R. § 23.113(b)(l). See 25 U.S.C. 

§ 1922 and RCW 13.38.140(1). The commentary accompanying the federal 

regulations explains that emergency hearings are "known in various States 

as 72-hour hearings, detention hearings, shelter care hearings, and other 

terms." 81 Fed. Reg. 38819 (June 14, 2016). The commentary also explains 

that the "final rule does not require that the section 1912(a) notice 

provisions and waiting periods for notices apply to emergency 

proceedings." 81 Fed. Reg. 38819 (June 14, 2016). Accordingly, the Court 

of Appeals properly held that shelter care hearings qualify as an emergency 

proceeding, and the 10-day formal notice requirement did not apply at initial 

shelter care hearings. Z.J.G. 448 P.3d at 178. 

Although formal legal notice is not required at the initial shelter care 
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hearing, the Court of Appeals also recognized that formal legal notice is 

required after shelter care in cases when there is "reason to know" the child 

is an Indian child. ZJG. at 185. 

The opinion below is consistent with T.L. G., and only differed 

because of the different facts in each case and subsequent changes in the 

law. For example, the Court of Appeals reinforced its own earlier holding 

in T.L. G. regarding the importance of legal notice requirements under 

ICWA. Z.JG. at 185. It also reiterated that, in T.L.G., the trial court erred 

in failing to ensure legal notice of the termination proceedings was given. 

Z.JG. at 185, n 89 (citing T.L.G. at 192). 

The Court of Appeals also properly determined T.L.G. was 

"factually distinguishable." Z.J. G. at 185. T.L. G. did not address the 

subsequent passage of the WI CW A in 2011. And, unlike the lack of 

investigation into the mother's asserted Indian heritage in the termination 

of parental rights trial at issue in T.LG., in the present case the "Department 

started to investigate before the [shelter care] hearing." Id. The Court also 

found the 2016 federal regulations and guidelines limited T. L. G. 's 

applicability: 

The applicability of T.L. G. is further limited because this 
court issued its opinion before the BIA updated the federal 
regulations and guidelines. A review of the updated 
regulations and guidelines counsels against reading T. L. G. 
as undercutting the precise definitions of an Indian child 
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from ICW A and WICW A. 

Id. at 186. 

Because the opinion below adhered to TL.G. 's holding regarding 

the importance of providing legal notice while distinguishing TL. G. as to 

the guidance provided by WICW A, the 2016 regulations, and guidelines, 

the treatment of TL. G. by the Court of Appeals does not merit review by 

this Court. 

D. Review is Not Warranted Under RAP 13.4(b)(3) Because the 
Opinion Below Turns on The Specific Facts of the Case and Is 
Correct 

Under RAP 13.4(b)(3), one of the considerations governing 

acceptance of review in this Court is whether "the petition involves an issue 

of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme 

Court." The father fails to cite to RAP 13.4(b)(3) and fails to address the 

legal standard for substantial public interest. 

Review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) is not warranted for three reasons. 

First, the opinion below correctly applied the "reason to know" factors in 

relation to the definition of an Indian child. Second, the opinion below 

appropriately rejected various claims for a much more expansive "reason to 

know" determination. Third, the lower court opinion properly recognized 

that preliminary contacts required under WICWA ensure that tribes are 

aware of dependency litigation and that the initial "reason to know" 
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determination is not final. 

1. The "reason to know" factors do not operate 
independently from the definitions of Indian child under 
both state and federal law 

ICW A and WICW A define an Indian child in substantially the same 

manner. An "Indian child" is "any unmarried person who is under age 

eighteen and is either (a) a member of an Indian tribe or (b) is eligible for 

membership in an Indian tribe and is the biological child of a member of an 

Indian tribe." 25 U.S.C. § 1903(4); see also RCW 13.38.040(7). Under 

federal law, when the court has "reason to know" that the child is an Indian 

child, but it does not have sufficient information to determine whether the 

child is or is not an Indian child, the court must treat the child as an Indian 

child, unless and until it is determined on the record that the child is not an 

Indian child. 25 C.F.R. § 23.107(b)(2). Thus, ICWA's requirements apply 

when there is "reason to know" a child is an Indian child. 

Under federal law, the occasions when there is uncertainty and yet 

a "reason to know" that a child is an Indian child are listed at 25 C.F .R. 

§ 23.107(c). According to the Bureau of Indian Affairs, the regulations 

provide "clear guidance regarding when a court has 'reason to know' the 

child is an 'Indian child."' 81 Fed. Reg. 38,804 (June 14, 2016) 

(commentary explaining the deletion of the proposed rule's terminology 

"could be an Indian child" and responding to comments suggesting that the 
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inquiry requirement include "may be an Indian child"). The existence of the 

following factors establish there is a "reason to know" a child is an Indian 

child: 

(1) Any participant in the proceeding, officer of the court 
involved in the proceeding, Indian Tribe, Indian 
organization, or agency informs the court that the child is an 
Indian child; 
(2) Any participant in the proceeding, officer of the court 
involved in the proceeding, Indian Tribe, Indian 
organization, or agency informs the court that it has 
discovered information indicating that the child is an Indian 
child; 
(3) The child who is the subject of the proceeding gives the 
court reason to know he or she is an Indian child; 
(4) The court is informed that the domicile or residence of 
the child, the child's parent, or the child's Indian custodian 
is on a reservation or in an Alaska Native village; 
( 5) The court is informed that the child is or has been a ward 
of a Tribal court; or 
( 6) The court is informed that either parent or the child 
possesses an identification card indicating membership in an 
Indian Tribe. 

25 C.F.R. § 23.107(c). "Indian child" means "any unmarried person who is 

under age 18 and either: (1) is a member or citizen of an Indian tribe; or (2) 

is eligible for membership or citizenship in an Indian tribe and is the 

biological child of a member/citizen of an Indian tribe." 25 C.F.R. § 23.2; 
/ 

see also 25 U.S.C. § 1903(4) and RCW 13.38.040(7) (similar definitions). 

The father incorrectly argues the Court of Appeals conflated "reason 

to know" with actual knowledge that a child is an Indian child. Petition at 

8. His arguments ignore both the legal term "Indian child," repeatedly 
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referenced in the "reason to know" factors, and the narrow facts ofthis case. 

Here, at the time of the original shelter care hearing, the juvenile 

court was not presented with information that provided a "reason to know" 

under any of the factors. Contrary to the father's argument, factor (2)-that 

a participant "has discovered information indicating that the child is an 

Indian child"-was not satisfied because information from the tribe itself 

contradicted the legal definition of Indian child, as the tribe reported the 

mother was not a member and the children were not members. RP 11; see 

Petition at 10. Similarly, the mother testified she was not a tribal member, 

the father testified only as to tribal "heritage," and neither parent (nor 

anyone else for that matter) testified that the children were members. 

RP 90, 67. 

The Court of Appeals properly refused to allow the "reason to 

know" factors to operate in a manner unrelated to the definitions of "Indian 

child" under both state and federal law. The interpretation requested by the 

father focuses solely on whether the child "may be" an Indian child. Petition 

at 14. Such an interpretation, operating wholly independently from the 

actual definitions of an Indian child, would render the definitions 

themselves superfluous. The dependency court's "reason to know" 

determination was a correct application of the reason to know factors, based 

upon the narrow facts known at the time of the initial shelter care hearing. 
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2. The lower court appropriately rejected a greatly 
expanded reason to know determination under federal 
and state ICW A 

The father argues in favor of an expansive interpretation of the 

"reason to know" determination, and he has argued that his own report of 

heritage with a federally recognized tribe constitutes a "reason to know." 

Supp. Br. Petitioner at 39 (filed February 22, 2019). Yet, none of the factors 

contained in 25 C.F.R. § 23.107(c) refer to a report of Native American 

ancestry or heritage. Congress crafted ICW A's definition of "Indian child" 

so that ICWA's application relates to tribal membership. 25 U.S.C. 

§ 1903(4). This focused definition-dependent on the child's tribal 

membership or eligibility for membership where a biological parent is also 

a member-only triggers ICW A's application when a child's tribe has a 

sovereign, political interest in that child. "ICW A does not apply simply 

based on a child or parent's Indian ancestry. Instead, there must be a 

political relationship to the Tribe." Bureau of Indian Affairs, U.S. Dep't of 

Interior, Guidelines for Implementing the Indian Child Welfare Act 10 

(Dec. 2016)(Guidelines).5 The opinion below is consistent with the federal 

regulations promulgated in 2016 and with other rulings from courts in other 

5 These Guidelines are located at https://www.indianaffairs.gov/bia/ois/dhs/icwa 
(last accessed on February 3, 2020). 
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states having addressed 25 C.F.R. § 23.107(c). 6 The Court of Appeals 

properly rejected the father's argument for an expansive "may be" 

determination as contrary to federal regulations and guidelines. 

Z.JG. at 185. 

The father's remaimng argument, that WICWA amends the 

definition of Indian child, is an issue the father attempted to raise for the 

first time in his motion for reconsideration filed after the Court of Appeal's 

issuance of its opinion. See, Combined Response of Department to Motion 

to Reconsider at pages 13-14. Even if one were to set aside the lack of 

timeliness related to this issue, the issue itself is not a proper subject of 

review for two reasons. First, the father's previous position in this case at 

the trial and appellate level endorsed a definition oflndian child under state 

law that was coextensive with the federal definition. Id. at pages 17-18. 

Second, the circumstances of the father's case do not present this issue. 

WICWA defines the term, "member" and "membership" in the following 

manner: 

"Member" and "membership" means a determination by an 
Indian tribe that a person is a member or eligible for 
membership in that Indian tribe.

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